The Samuel H. Kress Collection
The paintings in NOMA’s Kress Galleries were once part of the formidable collection of Italian Renaissance Masters amassed by Samuel H. Kress and gifted to regional museums. Samuel H. Kress, whose dime store chain made him one of the wealthiest men in America, began collecting art rather late in his life.  Kress’s collection outgrew his original plan of donating it all to the National Gallery of Art. In the 1940’s the Kress Foundation embarked on a plan that would aid in the development of many regional museums by allocating to them a significant representation of Renaissance art.  In 1961, the twenty-one recipient museums and galleries were given title to their portions of the Kress Collection.
Introduction:

From the mid-1920’s to the end of the 1950s, Samuel Henry Kress (1863-1955) and the Samuel H. Kress Foundation (est. 1929) amassed one of the most astonishing collections of European old master paintings, sculpture, and decorative arts ever assembled through the efforts of a private individual.
Even more remarkable was the manner in which the Kress Collection was shared with the American people. 1,800 works of art were donated to the National Gallery of Art in Washington, D.C. All of the rest – another 1,300 pieces – was distributed across the continent. Kress regional collections of 20 to 60 old masters brought the first Italian paintings to communities where Kress five- and ten-cent stores served the public, and Kress study collections introduced European art to institutions of higher learning. Smaller gifts of one to three works spread the pleasure of art even further.
Initiated by Samuel Kress in the early 1930s, the distribution of art was completed, under the guidance of his brother Rush Kress, by the Kress Foundation between 1947 and 1961.
Background:
Guided by a dual purpose – a sense of the public responsibility of great wealth, and a belief that the moral force of great art can be cultivated – Samuel H. Kress and the Samuel H. Kress Foundation created between 1929 and 1961 a series of unprecedented programs to share the artistic legacy of Europe with the American people. In the depths of the Great Depression, a touring exhibition of 50 pictures from Samuel Kress’s private collection introduced Italian art to an eager if untutored public in 24 American cities, and throughout the 1930s his gifts of art placed the first Old Master paintings on the walls of local museums in many parts of the country, including New Orleans. 
A staggering number of incomparable European masterpieces entered the Kress Collection during and after World War II. The Kress Collection, originally shown in 34 Kress galleries at the National Gallery grew too large for that institution and a large quantity of paintings that offered well-balanced, representative surveys of Italian art were selected as loans to smaller museums across the country. This grand scale program of art philanthropy donated more than 700 Old Master works of art to regional museums in 18 American cities during the 1950s. Another 200 paintings were divided into study collections for 23 colleges and universities. Major gifts of special collections were also bestowed on the Metropolitan Museum of Art (French porcelains and furniture, and a complete Robert Adam room with Gobelins tapestries), the Pierpont Morgan Library (drawings and illuminated manuscripts), and the Philadelphia Museum of Art (13 tapestries on designs by Rubens and Pietro da Cortona).
Encompassing European art of the principle continental schools from the 13th to the early 19th centuries, the Kress Collection’s greatest distinction resides in the extraordinary abundance of Italian pieces – more than 1,000 Italian paintings, 500 period frames, 1,300 small bronzes, medals, and plaquettes, and representative sculpture, drawings, and furniture. Many of the greatest Italian artists – Cimabue, Duccio, Giotto, Botticelli, Fra Angelico, Filippo Lippi, Verrocchio, Raphael, Andrea del Sarto, Pontormo, Correggio, Bellini, Carpaccio, Giorgione, Titian, Lotto, Tintoretto, Veronese, Carracci, Bernini, Strozzi, Tiepolo, Guardi, Canaletto, and Bellotto – appear in the Kress Collection, as do numerous fine works by less familiar masters. The French schools shine brightly from the early Renaissance to Poussin, Claude, Watteau, Chardin, Boucher, Fragonard, Houdon, David, and Ingres. Art of German-speaking lands comes from the hand of Dürer, Grunewald, Altdorfer, Holbein, and Cranach. Flemish and Spanish tastes intermingle through Petrus Christus, Bosch, Memling, El Greco, Rubens, Van Dyck, Zurbaran, and Goya. All of these, and hundreds and hundreds more, constitute the Kress gift to the nation, shared with the public in more than 90 institutions in 33 states. 
Preservation of European Monuments:
The benefactions of Samuel Kress extended beyond the endowment of individual works of art to the preservation of great art in situ. Indeed, his first major grant, in 1929, was for the restoration of monuments in Italy, and he continued to sponsor work at the Ducal Palace in Mantua, and elsewhere in Europe, throughout the 1930s. Over its long history, the Kress Foundation has maintained programs in architectural preservation as an integral aspect of its focus on European cultural heritage.
Since 1940, projects to protect and preserve significant monuments of European art have ranged from an imperial Roman gateway at Aphrodisias to an imperial French theatre at Compiègne. The Foundation has offered funding for Egyptian temples; Byzantine buildings in Athens, Jerusalem, and Istanbul; a Moorish fountain pavilion; a medieval donjon in Périgord; Spanish Romanesque and German Gothic churches; Renaissance buildings in the Czech Republic, France, Italy, and Portugal; the Ochavo in Toledo Cathedral; the dome of the Invalides in Paris; the bridge of Santa Trinità in Florence and the church of the Pietà in Venice; Georgian houses in Ireland; the Czar’s summer palace in St. Petersburg and Marie Antoinette’s private apartment at Versailles (to which the Foundation also donated two Louis XVI cabinets). To these representative field projects should be added such related activities as the creation of a conservation laboratory in Venice, surveys of Bosnian war damage, and planning for the future uses of great estates in Eastern Europe. 
Kress funding has aided cultural sites in all parts of Europe. Since 1987, support has been offered through the Kress Foundation European Preservation Program, administered by the World Monuments Fund. These competitive grants serve to challenge European governments and private sector organizations, stimulating local leadership and increasing international attention. The Foundation also sponsors programs in basic research, new technology, training, publications, and preservation advocacy. The program is an endorsement of the belief that this heritage is both the common property and shared responsibility of all mankind.
Professional Expertise in Art History and Art Conservation:
In 1961, the gift of the Kress Collection to communities across America provided a new impetus for serious interest in European art. As a means of sustaining the great Kress donation, the Kress Foundation developed programs to foster the human, scholarly, and scientific resources essential to the care and enjoyment of great art and architecture. Focusing on the practice of art history and conservation, Kress grants have since supported the training of individuals and the basic elements required for professional expertise in the field – art historical libraries, slide collections, photographic archives, publications, databases, catalogues, technical studies, archaeological investigations, international exchanges, conferences, consultations, and other related activities. 
Forty years ago, the Kress Foundation’s programming inaugurated a notable expansion of the academic discipline of the history of art in the United States. Promising young scholars and curators were awarded Kress Fellowships to study art abroad, and returned to make their careers in universities and museums that had likewise benefited from an expansion of resources sponsored by the Kress Foundation. One direct and positive result was a dramatic increase of doctoral programs in the history of art, from 19 in 1960 to almost 60 today. Many of the art historians who guide these programs are former Kress Fellows, who now number more than 3,000. A similar approach to the care of art and architecture, begun in the 1980s, has offered Kress Fellowships to almost 1,000 art conservators and preservationists to improve their skills through specialized training, sustained by the Foundation’s support for conservation facilities and scientific research. 
Kress Fellowships and the professional activities of art historians, conservators, and preservationists are integral to the Foundation’s programming as the continuation of Samuel Kress’s commitment to European art and architecture. Today, the dedication and expertise of 4,000 former Kress Fellows is apparent in every corner of the world of art.  
S. H. Kress & Company:
Before the establishment of the Kress Foundation in 1929, Samuel H. Kress was already a recognized benefactor to as many as 200 communities in more than half of the states of the Union. On Main Streets across the nation, the vast retailing empire of S. H. Kress & Co. 5 - 10 -25 Cent stores, established in 1896, operated a chain of distinctive, elegant buildings purveying cheerful, low-priced notions and durable household wares. Designed to exacting company standards, the handsome Kress stores were cherished as prominent local landmarks as well as for quality merchandise. In an age of civic boosterism, the downtown 'Kress's' were celebrated beacons of prosperity and progress, exemplars of urban art, and magnets of municipal pride. 
The most distinctive and best remembered Kress stores are a group of fifty or more Art Deco buildings dating from 1929 - 1944 designed by Edward F. Sibbert (1899-1982), the company's longtime chief architect. Sibbert's buildings streamlined the Kress image with a sleek modernity, lavish use of terracotta ornament, and strong verticals supporting the golden letters 'Kress'. Curved glass display windows led shoppers through heavy bronze doors into an interior of rich marbles, fine woods, and large customized counters set crosswise down a long sales floor. Well-positioned hanging lamps created a bright atmosphere (notably more so than other variety stores) for an endless array of inexpensive items (there were 4,275 different articles in 1934) serviced by salesladies in tan and ivory uniforms that blended with the pale walls. Everything, from the constantly restocked merchandise, to the gracious retiring rooms and popular soda fountain in the basement, encouraged customers to linger. Like the great movie houses of the day, the dime store – and ‘Kress’s’ in particular -- was a popular escape from the drabness of the economic depression. 
Every Kress store was a gift of civic art to its community. Grandest of all was Edward Sibbert's masterpiece, the Kress flagship store at the corner of Fifth Avenue and 39th Street in New York City, opened in 1935. A seven-story marble structure designed for every shopping comfort, its Art Deco elegance was graced by airborne Mayan gods on the sales floor and Mayan-style hieroglyphs of the gloves and padlocks and yard goods for sale. Awarded a gold medal for architectural quality, the store was the zenith of the Kress Empire in luxury, modernity, and retailing capacity. In December 1938, it was also the locale of the most astonishing Christmas display in the history of Fifth Avenue - Samuel Kress's recent acquisition of Giorgione's Allendale Nativity, placed on view to holiday shoppers. Like most of the Kress stores across the nation, the Fifth Avenue emporium was supremely successful on its own terms in its own time, and its demolition in 1980 marked the end of an American era.
For additional information on the history of the Kress stores, and splendid illustrations, see America’s 5 & 10 Cent Stores: The Kress Legacy, by Bernice L. Thomas, 1997. The National Building Museum in Washington DC possesses an archive of the building history of 221 Kress stores in 28 states and has published A Guide to the Building Records of S. H. Kress & Co. 5-10-25 Cent Stores at the National Building Museum, 1993.
Information excerpted from the Kress Foundation website at http://www.kressfoundation.org. For a complete listing of the entire Kress Collection and its current location, click on The Kress Collection link on the homepage.


